#### Case No. 69399 c/w 70478

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

FREDERIC AND BARBARA ROSENBERG LIVING TRUST, Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

MACDONALD HIGHLANDS REALTY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company; MICHAEL DOIRON, an Individual; and FHP VENTURES, a Nevada Limited Partnership, Respondent/Cross-Appellants.

FREDERIC AND BARBARA ROSENBERG LIVING TRUST, Appellant,

VS.

SHAHIN SHANE MALEK, Respondent. Electronically Filed Oct 13 2016 11:51 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Kenneth Cory, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-689113-C

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3(A)(b)(1), as the District Court, on August 13, 2015, entered: (1) a final order granting MacDonald Highlands Realty, LLC, Michael Doiron, and FHP Ventures' (the "MacDonald Parties") Motion for Summary Judgment, written notice of which was served electronically on August 13, 2015 (12JA\_2490-2503)<sup>2</sup>; and (2) a final order granting Shahin Shane Malek's ("Malek") Motion for Summary Judgment, written notice of which was served electronically on August 20, 2015. (12JA\_2505-2525.)

On November 10, 2015, the District Court entered an order granting the MacDonald Parties Motion for Certification Pursuant to NRCP 54(b) and an order granting the MacDonald Parties' Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs and Motion to Re-Tax Costs. (13JA\_2775-2777.) Written notice of each which was served electronically on November 10, 2015. (13JA\_2779-2789.) On January 13, 2016, the District Court entered an order granting Malek's Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs and granting in part the Trust's Motion to Retax Costs, written notice of which was served electronically on January 20, 2016. (13JA\_2817-2827.) On March 10, 2016, a stipulation and order was entered dismissing Bank of America, N.A., with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> FHP Ventures was erroneously sued as The Foothills Partners.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Joint Appendix ("JA"). All citations to the JA will include the volume number followed by \_page number, e.g. 1JA\_0001.

prejudice, written notice of which was served electronically on March 18, 2016. (13JA\_2834-2840.) On May 18, 2016, a stipulation and order was entered dismissing Malek's claim for slander of title against the Trust. (12JA\_2842-2845.) On August 9, 2016, a stipulation and order was entered dismissing BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP with prejudice, written notice of which was served electronically on August 10, 2016. (Docket 70478, Document 2016-24779, Ex. 1)

The remaining parties were all dismissed prior to entry of the first final order granting summary judgment in the District Court case. Specifically, DragonRidge Properties, DragonRidge Golf Club, MacDonald Properties were dismissed by order entered on January 10, 2014 (1JA\_0053-0054), Real Property Management Group was voluntarily dismissed on April 29, 2014 (1JA\_0087-0088), and Paul Bykowski and Foothills at MacDonald Ranch Master Association were voluntarily dismissed on April 22, 2015. (Docket 70478, Document 2016-20089, Ex. 4.)

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter arises from a real property lawsuit filed in the District Court. The District Court impermissibly granted summary judgment against Plaintiff-Appellant when it rejected Nevada law that recognizes the existence of an implied restrictive covenant for use; specifically, an implied restrictive covenant over the Dragon Ridge golf course in the master planned community of MacDonald Highlands (the "Golf Course"). As the District Court failed to do the appropriate factual analysis to determine if such an implied restrictive covenant existed in this case, the summary judgment orders entered against Plaintiff-Appellant should be reversed. Plaintiff-Appellant believes that this case should remain with the Nevada Supreme Court as opposed to being sent to the Court of Appeals because it raises an issue of statewide public importance: whether Nevada recognizes an implied restrictive covenant for use over golf courses in planned communities, especially where so many of Nevada's homeowners now live in common-interest communities surrounding golf courses and are induced to pay premiums for homes based on the master plan and platted golf course. NRAP 17(a)(14).<sup>3</sup> The outcome in this case could apply equally

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is at least one other case pending before the United States District Court, District of Nevada that is dealing with this similar issue in the context of golf course property. *See* Hellerstein v. Desert Lifestyles, LLC, 2:15-cv-01804-RFB-CWH.

to other platted common elements in such common-interest, planned unit developments, e.g. parks and recreational centers. Thus, this case could impact the expectations of millions of Nevada homeowners in both Clark and Washoe counties who have purchased homes in communities with the promise of golf courses, parks, recreational areas, and the like.

Additionally, as an alternative claim, a jury determined an implied restrictive covenant did not exist, Plaintiff-Appellant sought recovery of damages in the amount of over \$750,000.00, for loss of value of the subject property due to the broker and realtor's failure to disclose material facts that impacted the overall value of the property. NRAP 17(b)(2)(stating that judgments of less than \$250,000 in a tort case are presumptively routed to the Court of Appeals).

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether the District Court erred in determining that Nevada does not recognize implied restrictive covenants?
- 2. Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the MacDonald Parties and Malek when Rosenbergs established the existence of an implied restrictive covenant over the Golf Course, or at a minimum, set forth issues of fact that should have precluded summary judgment in this case?
- 3. Whether the District Court erred in finding that the Rosenbergs waived the

- MacDonald Parties' statutory and common law duty to disclose material facts?
- 4. Whether the District Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the MacDonald Parties on the issue of disclosure because issues of fact exist regarding the materiality of Malek's purchase of golf course property and the Rosenbergs' ability to discover this information absent disclosure?
- 5. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting the MacDonald Parties attorneys fees when the Offer was unreasonable in time and amount?
- 6. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting Malek attorneys fees when the Rosenbergs' claim was grounded in law, and therefore was not vexatious?
- 7. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting Malek attorneys fees without conducting a *Brunzell* analysis?
- 8. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in granting Malek attorneys fees even though Malek did not prevail on his counter-claim?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from orders granting summary judgment in an action to enforce an implied restrictive covenant running with land over a golf course in a masterplanned golf course community, or in the alternative, seeking compensatory damages for failure to disclose material facts about converting a part of the golf course into a residential development. This is also an appeal from orders granting attorneys fees pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 18.010.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

### I. <u>FACTUAL BACKGROUND</u>

On or about May 15, 2013, Fred and Barbara Rosenberg (the "Rosenbergs") purchased their retirement home located at 590 Lairmont Place, Henderson, Nevada 89012 (the "Home") from Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA").<sup>4</sup> (1JA\_0142.) At about age 70, Fred, an avid golfer, loved the fact that the Home was located on the 9th hole of the Dragon Ridge Golf Course ("Golf Course"). (2JA\_0303.) The Golf Course is located within a master planned community known as MacDonald Highlands, and opened for play in 2000. (6JA\_1262-1263.) MacDonald Highlands markets itself as a premier golf course community. (6JA\_1263.) Richard MacDonald

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Rosenbergs took title of their Home through the Frederic and Barbara Rosenberg Living Trust. (2JA\_0262.)

("MacDonald") developed MacDonald Highlands, and, for all intents and purposes, he remains the declarant-in-control under the community association's CC&Rs. MacDonald is also a real estate broker who owns and operates MacDonald Highlands Realty. (2JA\_0382.) Michael Dorion ("Doiron") worked for MacDonald as a licensed real estate agent at MacDonald Highlands Realty and represented BANA, the seller, in the Rosenbergs' purchase of the Home. (3JA\_0556, 4JA\_0676.)

When the Golf Course was sold in 2014 to Pacific Links, MacDonald testified that it would remain a Golf Course because "[t]hat's the condition of the community master plan." (6JA\_1262-1263.) MacDonald testified that he always intended the Golf Course to be an amenity of MacDonald Highlands. (6JA\_1264.) The MacDonald Highlands' website and other promotional materials also reference the Golf Course, and the community and plat maps reference the Golf Course. (7JA\_1360-1364.)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the time of the Rosenbergs' purchase, DRFH Ventures, LLC, was the owner of the Golf Course, and MacDonald is the manager of DRFH Ventures, LLC. (6JA\_1253,1264.) MacDonald is also the manager of The Foothills Development Company, which is the general partner for FHP Ventures, LLC. (6JA\_1264.) FHP Ventures is the developer of MacDonald Highlands, and remains the declarant-incontrol under the community association's CC&Rs. (*Id.*)

Likewise, the Golf Course is such an integral part of MacDonald Highlands that both the CC&Rs and the Design Guidelines reference the Golf Course and place restrictions on golf course parcels to preserve the integrity and value of those parcels. (6JA\_1270-1306.) The CC&Rs burden all properties abutting the Golf Course with an easement for golf balls and golfers to enter the properties. (6JA\_1306.) The Design Guidelines which govern undeveloped lots in MacDonald Highlands state:

The community identity is further enhanced by an 18-hole championship golf course and destination resort. The golf course fairways meander throughout the neighborhoods within MacDonald Highlands, with many of the individual homesites featuring direct frontage on the course. In addition, significant view corridors to the golf course are provided at key locations along the community street system. (6JA1271-1272.)

The Design Review Committee is tasked with the authority "to protect and enhance owner value," and "preserve the natural character of the desert environment." (6JA\_1271.)

When the Rosenbergs purchased their Home, the property adjacent to it, 594 Lairmont Place, owned by Respondent Shahin Shane Malek ("Malek"), was a one acre, empty dirt lot set back behind the 9th hole. (the "Malek Property"). (4JA\_0737.) Malek purchased this lot on or about August 8, 2012. (1JA\_0078.) MacDonald Highlands Realty and Dorion represented the seller in that sale. (3JA\_0550.)

Unbeknownst to the Rosenbergs, at the same time that Malek purchased the Malek Property, he approached Dorion about purchasing 1/3 of an acre of the 9th

hole's in-play area that directly borders the Malek Property ("Golf Parcel"). (3JA 550.) Without the addition of the Golf Parcel to Malek's Property, express restrictive covenants imposing strict set-backs on all lots would require that any house built on the Malek Property sit next to the Rosenbergs' Home, in a contiguous line with the rest of the houses that border the Golf Course in accordance with the community plat map. (3JA\_0466, 7JA\_1552.) Malek believed that he could get around this restriction and increase his building envelope if he acquired part of the 9th hole. (See photo, 5JA\_0146.) Such a house built with this increased building envelope would jut out substantially from the contiguous line of the houses bordering the Golf Course and detrimentally affect the property value of the Rosenbergs' Home. (Id.) Expert opinions disclosed by the Rosenbergs quantified the loss of value to the Rosenbergs' Home to be between \$750,000.00-\$1,000,000.00. (See 2JA 0279, 0285, 0413.) Ultimately, MacDonald agreed to sell the Golf Parcel to Malek "subject to" whatever restriction and conditions existed on the Golf Parcel. (3JA\_0614; 7JA\_1380.). Doiron represented both parties and wrote the contract for the sale of the Golf Parcel. (3JA 0550.)

As a term of the sale, MacDonald had to rezone the Golf Parcel from public/semipublic use to low-density residential. To accomplish this, MacDonald applied to the City of Henderson to amend MacDonald Highlands' comprehensive plan, change the public zoning, revise the land use, and vacate any utility easements.

(3JA\_0551, 6JA\_1163-1173.) In December 2012, the City of Henderson approved the zoning change. (6JA\_1333-7JA\_1343.) The physical maps with the City of Henderson reflecting the zoning changes to the Golf Parcel were updated on or about January 24, 2013. (3JA\_0539.) However, these maps only showed the zoning change; they did not show any boundary line changes to the Golf Course or Malek's Property. (*Id.*)

At the time the Rosenbergs purchased the Home, both MacDonald and Doiron knew that the public zoning had been changed so Malek could build a house on what was still in-play area of the 9th hole. (3JA\_0551.) Despite this, MacDonald Highlands Realty did not update its disclosure records to include current zoning and community maps that reflected the change made to the Golf Parcel. (3JA\_0551.) It also failed to update the community map on its website to reflect the anticipated boundary line changes to the Malek Property, and it failed to update the topography table located in the MacDonald Highlands office to reflect the anticipated boundary line changes to the Malek Property. (3JA\_0552.)

More importantly, even though she had intimate involvement in the sale of the Golf Parcel and knew about the zoning change, Doiron never disclosed to the Rosenbergs that part of the 9th hole bordering the Home would soon have a house built on it. (3JA\_0556.) Instead, when Doiron showed the Rosenbergs a diagram of all of the lots in MacDonald Highlands, it showed no changes surrounding the 9th

hole. (2JA\_0267-0268.) Moreover, during the due diligence period, Doiron intentionally misled the Rosenbergs by providing them with a binder that included outdated zoning maps while stating that it "contains the most recent zoning and land use information" for the subject property. (3JA\_0554-0556; 6JA\_1195; *see*, *also*, 2JA\_0301-0302.) Furthermore, Doiron signed the Seller's Real Property Disclosure Form affirming full disclosure of any and all conditions and information known by the Seller that materially affected the value of the Rosenberg's future Home. (6JA\_1211-1214.) Additionally, when the Rosenbergs conducted a visual inspection of their Home and the surrounding area, they did not observe anything that would indicate boundary line changes on the Golf Parcel or Malek's Property. (2JA\_0266.)

Completely unaware that a residence was about to be built on the Golf Course directly in their backyard, on March 13, 2013, the Rosenbergs entered into a Purchase Agreement to buy their dream home. (3JA\_0328-0338.) The Purchase Agreement contained a Waiver of Claims provision for the benefit of the seller (BANA) wherein the Rosenbergs acknowledged that the Home would be sold "asis." (3JA\_0335-0336.) The Rosenbergs understood "as-is" to mean "the structural problems that were inside the house, and the cosmetic problems that were inside the house." (2JA\_0252.)

On April 8, 2013, Malek took legal title to the Golf Parcel. (3JA\_0579-0580.)

The final map delineating the new lot lines for Malek's Property, which now

included the Golf Parcel, was not recorded until June 2013, over four months after the Rosenbergs closed on their Home. (3JA\_0545, 3JA\_0620.) Upon learning this, the Rosenbergs brought the underlying action and sought to enforce the implied restrictive covenant limiting the use of the Golf Course, or in the alternative, monetary damages from MacDonald Highlands Realty and Dorion for their failure to disclose the change of the Golf Parcel into a residential lot. (1JA\_0001-0021, 0089-0109.)

### II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The Rosenbergs filed their Complaint seeking, among other claims, a declaration that an implied easement existed over the Golf Course which prohibited Malek from altering the Golf Course. (1JA\_0019-20.) Thereafter, the Rosenbergs filed an Amended Complaint, and again alleged a claim for an implied restrictive covenant. (1JA\_0105.) As part of this claim, the Rosenbergs alleged that the restrictive covenant "requires the Golf Parcel to be used as part of the 18-hole golf course and for no other purpose." (1JA\_0105.) After the close of discovery, Malek filed a motion for summary judgment wherein he claimed that the Rosenbergs sought a view easement, and that Nevada does not recognize such an easement. (1JA\_0198.)

Despite the fact that the Rosenbergs denied seeking an easement for view, and reiterated time and time again they sought an implied restrictive covenant as to use,

the District Court accepted Malek's misinterpretation of the claim. (6JA\_1124; 6JA\_1369; 13JA\_2866; 2868; 14JA\_2931-35; 2937; 2977-2983; 3006; 3027; 3049.) This error permeated the District Court's decision granting Malek's motion for summary judgment, the MacDonald Parties' motion for summary judgment, and in awarding attorneys fees. (12JA\_2466-2468; 2485.) This appeal followed.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This is a case about a retired couple, the Rosenbergs, buying a house on a golf course within a master planned community and discovering afterwards that a house was going to be built on a piece of the Golf Course directly bordering their Home. When the Rosenbergs sued to enforce an implied restrictive covenant limiting the use of the Golf Course, or in the alternative, to seek damages caused by the non-disclosure of the change in use of the Golf Course, the District Court found that Nevada does not recognize implied restrictive covenants, that there was no implied easement to light and air, and that the Rosenbergs waived all disclosures. The District Court compounded these errors by awarding the Respondents' attorneys fees, finding that the claim against Malek was vexatious and that the Rosenbergs should have accepted the MacDonald Parties' token offer.

To be clear, the Rosenbergs do not seek an easement as to light and air.

Instead, the Rosenbergs seek to enforce the implied restrictive covenant which limits

the Golf Parcel to a use consistent with the Golf Course.<sup>6</sup> For example, prior to the sale to Malek, the owner of the Golf Course could have converted part of the 9th hole into a restroom for golf players. This would not have violated the implied restrictive covenant because this use, while unsightly and damaging to the view from the Rosenbergs' Home, would nevertheless still be consistent with the use of the land as golf course. Here, the Rosenbergs simply want the 1/3 acre of the 9th hole that was sold to Malek to continue to be used in a manner consistent with a golf course.

The concept of restricting/preserving land use relied on by the Rosenbergs has been recognized by Nevada since 1913 when this Court in *Shearer* recognized the concept of dedication or restrictive covenant. *Shearer v. City of Reno*, 36 Nev. 443, 136 P. 705 (1913). This Court reaffirmed this concept in 1965 in *Boyd v. McDonald*, 81 Nev. 642, 408 P.2d 717 (1965) (recognizing the concept of implied easement), and in 1968 in *Meredith v. Washoe Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 84 Nev. 15, 17, 435 P.2d 750, 752 (1968) (stating a restrictive covenant is an easement or a servitude in the nature of an easement). Most importantly, while the principal of "an implied easement[/covenant] arises by operation of law, the existence of an implied easement[/covenant] is generally a question of fact." *Jackson v. Nash*, 109 Nev.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Restatement Third defines "restrictive covenant" as "a negative covenant that limits permissible uses of land." Restatement (Third) of Property, Servitudes, § 1.3(3) (2000).

1202, 1208, 866 P.2d 262, 267 (1993).

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