#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FREDERIC AND BARBARA ROSENBERG LIVING TRUST, Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

MACDONALD HIGHLANDS REALTY, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; MIC Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

THE FREDERIC AND BARBARA ROSENBERG LIVING TRUST, Appellant,

VS.

SHAHIN SHANE MALEK, Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 69399

District Court Case NE A 10:25 a r

Dec 15 2016 10:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

### RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT'S ANSWERING BRIEF AND OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

Respectfully submitted by:

J. Randall Jones, Esq. (NV #1927)

Spencer H. Gunnerson, Esq. (NV #8810)

Matthew S. Carter, Esq. (NV #9524)

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

The "as-is" nature of the sale, combined with the Trust's lack of due diligence, indicate that the Trust cannot recover as a matter of law. First, the district court recognized that the Trust not only signed a contract providing for the sale of the property in "as-is" condition; the Trust in fact *demanded* such a sale. JA 2:313 and 2:326. As a matter of Nevada law, a sale of property "as-is" deprives the buyer of claims that it otherwise would have connected to the sale. What's more, the "as-is" provision in this particular Purchase Agreement contained extensive due diligence language that squarely placed the burden for discovering all issues with the property, including issues with zoning, boundary lines, and the surrounding area, upon the Trust. JA 2:333-34; *see also* JA 2:313 (the Trust's letter of intent stating that "[i]t is Buyer's obligation to conduct all necessary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Mackintosh, supra, 855 P.2d at 552.

studies, including but not limited to environmental, construction, market feasibility, title, zoning & CC&R's. Buyer shall purchase the property 'As-Is' and 'Where-Is' and "With All Faults.'") And even if the Purchase Agreement provision did not have the level of detail it does, it is undisputed that MacDonald real estate agent Michael Doiron, representing the seller, made a disclosure regarding zoning maps, acknowledged she may not have the most current information, and directed the Trust where to go to get the most current information as part of the due diligence process. JA 2:348. Based on the undisputed facts and law, the first point of the district court's decision in MacDonald's favor was not whether an implied restrictive covenant existed, but rested upon the facts surrounding the "as-is" nature of the sale of the subject property. JA 12:2483-84. Because there is no dispute of material fact on those points, the district court properly granted summary judgment.

Second, the district court also properly recognized a limitation of remedies that was incorporated into the Purchase Agreement via an addendum agreed to by the Rosenbergs in March of 2013. *See* JA 7:1501. That limitation of remedies provided two remedies to the Trust: (1) a return of the Trust's earnest money if the sale of the subject property did not close, or (2) the lesser of the Trust's actual damages or \$5,000 if the sale did close. *See id*. The district court prominently

featured this limitation of remedies in its decision, a point that went unchallenged by the Trust in its Opening Brief. Compare JA 12:2481 and 12:2485 with Opening Brief, generally. Given that MacDonald's last offer of judgment, for \$25,000, easily beat the Trust's maximum recovery of \$5,000, any error by the district court on the substantive claims would have been harmless. See JA 12:2587-88. Therefore, this provision offers the Court another independent reason to affirm the district court. Third, the "implied restrictive covenant" sought by the Trust cannot be imposed as a matter of law. What the Trust asks for is not a right that has been recognized by this Court. The reason that the Trust seeks to stop Malek from building on his second parcel is not because the Trust is concerned about the use of that property as golf course (which was never a use of that parcel); both the numerous pleadings on file and Barbara Rosenberg's own testimony indicate that the Trust's true concern is the view from its property. See, e.g., JA 2:259 (Barbara Rosenberg deposition at 101:12-102:2). The Trust's current protest that it seeks only to preserve the "golf course" use of Malek's second parcel constitute little more than a sophistic end-run around the fact that Nevada does not allow it to obtain an implied view easement, even though the Trust has stated a number of times in the record that that is exactly what it wants. The district court, then, property granted summary judgment on this point.

Fourth, the Trust has waived most or all of its claims against MacDonald and the other defendants. The existence of these waivers is not in dispute, nor is the Trust's awareness of their existence at the time the Purchase Agreement was executed, nor is the Trust's admission that it could have tried to change them but did not. Because the undisputed facts show that these waivers were knowing and voluntary, the district court also made the correct decision to grant summary judgment on this point. As an additional matter, the Trust's argument that the waivers are invalid under NRS § 645.252 is an argument brand-new to this appeal that does not appear earlier in the record, and for that reason does not even deserve consideration by this Court.

The Trust's final argument against MacDonald, on the issue of attorney fees, is that the district court did not properly consider all of the factors under *Beattie v. Thomas*, 668 P.2d 268 (Nev. 1983). That argument, however, overlooks the numerous instances in the record, including discussion by the district court, of those very factors. It is therefore not accurate for the Trust to argue that the district court did not consider the *Beattie* factors. Essentially, then, the Trust's argument is that because the *order* itself does not discuss those factors, it should be struck down by this Court. But once again, the Trust's objection was waived at the trial level when its own counsel approved the form and content of the order it is now

contesting. Assuming that the Trust had an objection regarding the inclusion of the *Beattie* factors when the order was prepared, it was under a duty to preserve its objection at the time. Its failure to do so then is fatal to its appeal now.

On MacDonald's cross-appeal, the issue before this Court is very simple. Nevada Revised Statutes § 17.130 provides that post-judgment interest be awarded on all judgments by the district court, a conclusion supported by multiple decisions from this Court. Here, in the motion for attorney fees and costs, MacDonald therefore requested an amended judgment awarding those fees and costs, in addition to post-judgment interest. Because the order granting fees and costs came at a time when other parties still had claims remaining before the district court, it certified the attorney fees and costs order as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b), but did not issue a final amended judgment. To the extent that this prevents the legally mandated (and conceded below) result that MacDonald is entitled to post-judgment interest on its award of fees and costs, it should be reversed, with instructions to the district court to enter an amended order explicitly providing that MacDonald's fee and cost award shall collect post-judgment interest.

### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

## A. Order granting MacDonald's motion for summary judgment

An appellate court reviews the granting of a motion for summary judgment *de novo. Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005). A decision granting such a motion will be upheld "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no "genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.*; *see also Pressler v. City of Reno*, 50 P.3d 1096, 1098 (Nev. 2002).

## B. Order granting MacDonald's motion for attorney fees and costs

The Nevada Supreme Court "reviews an attorney fees decision for an abuse of discretion." *Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC*, 216 P.3d 793, 800 (Nev. 2009). Cost awards are also reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Univ. of Nevada v. Tarkanian*, 879 P.2d 1180, 1186 (Nev.1994).

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. The district court correctly determined that the Trust's insistence on, and acceptance of, the "as-is" nature of the subject property precluded the Trust's claims in this matter.

In Nevada, real estate professionals generally make a series of disclosures to buyers of real property pursuant to state law. *See*, *e.g.*, NRS § 645.252.9

However, "[n]ondisclosure by the seller of adverse information concerning real property generally will not provide the basis for an action by the buyer to rescind or for damages when property is sold 'as is." *Mackintosh v. Jack Matthews & Co.*, 855 P.2d 549, 552 (Nev. 1993). And, as this Court most recently held, "[1]iability for nondisclosure is generally not imposed where the buyer either knew of or could have discovered the defects prior to the purchase." *Land Baron Inv. v. Bonnie Springs Family LP*, 356 P.3d 511, 518 (Nev. 2015), *reh'g denied* (Nov. 24, 2015), *reconsideration* en banc *denied* (Jan. 22, 2016).

While this rule does not apply where information is available solely to the seller, there will be no basis for action against a seller unless "the seller knows [1]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Doiron and MacDonald Highlands Realty <u>did</u> make a disclosure regarding zoning and property lines. JA 2:348. That disclosure even provided the method for the trust to obtain the most up-to-date information on the subject. *See id*. MacDonald does dispute, however, that the central fact of the Trust's complaint – a pending minor adjustment to neighboring lots – was material information that was required to be disclosed under § 645.252.

of facts materially affecting the value or desirability of the property which are known or accessible only to [the seller] and [2] also knows that such facts are not known to, or within the reach of the diligent attention and observation of the buyer." Id. (quoting Lingsch v. Savage, 29 Cal. Rptr. 201, 204 (Ct. App. 1963)) (emphasis added). Only then is the seller under a duty to disclose those facts to the buyer. See id. Although Nevada does not have case law specific to off-site defects, courts that have considered the issue generally use the exact same test for off-site conditions as on-site conditions. See, e.g., Florrie Young Roberts, Off-Site Conditions and Disclosure Duties: Drawing the Line at the Property Line, 2006 BYU L. Rev. 957, 960 (2006). See also Couturier v. American Invsco *Corp.*, 10 F. Supp. 3d 1143, 1156 (D. Nev. 2014) (applying the same test – that a duty to disclose when "defendant alone has knowledge of material facts which are not accessible to the plaintiff" – where there was alleged fraudulent concealment of the fact that floor coverings in condominium units caused structural problems in a building).

The basis of the Trust's disclosure-based claims against MacDonald is that Doiron, as the agent for the seller of the subject property, knew or should have known, but did not disclose, the fact that the "lot lines [of the subject property and second parcel belonging to Malek] were other than presented and had in fact been

amended in such a way as to negatively impact the value of the SUBJECT PROPERTY or its use in an adverse manner." See JA 1:101 at ¶ 94. What this analysis fails to recognize, though, is that the Trust purchased the property on an "as-is" basis, specifically taking upon itself the duty to inspect the property and ensure that all aspects of it were suitable *prior* to close of escrow. JA 12:2478-80. See also JA 313 (the Trust's own letter of intent, indicating that it was the "Buyer's obligation" to investigate zoning prior to the purchase), JA 2:326 (confirming the Trust's desire to purchase the subject property "AS-IS"), JA 2:333-34 at ¶ 12 (detailing the Trust's due diligence obligations prior to closing), JA 2:335 at ¶ 22 (in which the Trust specifically agreed that it is not relying on the representations of Doiron or MacDonald Highlands Realty and that it was purchasing the subject property "AS-IS"), and JA 2:348 (advising the Trust to follow up with the City of Henderson for the most current lot line and zoning information applicable to and surrounding the subject property and describing how this could be done).

Documents and testimony further demonstrate that, beyond a doubt, the Trust had access to all pertinent information regarding zoning changes prior to closing on the subject property in March of 2013. *See* JA 12:2482 at ¶ 20 and JA 2:348. Also notable is the fact that the Purchase Agreement specifically states that

Plaintiff is "not relying on any representations" made by Doiron. JA 12:2480 at ¶ 13 and 2:335 at ¶ 22.<sup>10</sup> This fact alone destroys any chance that the Trust could demonstrate the "justifiable reliance" necessary for its fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims. *See*, *e.g.*, *Nelson v. Heer*, 163 P.3d 420, 426 (Nev. 2007) (intentional misrepresentation), and *Barmettler v. Reno Air*, *Inc.*, 956 P.2d 1382, 1387 (Nev. 1998) (negligent misrepresentation). <sup>11</sup>

Therefore, the undisputed facts and evidence before this Court show that it was the Trust that took upon itself the duty to investigate the property, including zoning and boundary-line issues, prior to the closing of the sale, and failed to fulfill that duty. Far from failing to disclose information to the Trust, Doiron actually gave the Trust's representatives information *specifically designed* to ensure that the trust was made aware of the most current zoning and boundary line

Without authority, the Trust argues that the "as-is" and waiver language in the agreement applies only to the seller of the subject property, not its agents. As paragraph 22 demonstrates, however, the Purchase Agreement makes it clear that the Trust agreed to rely on its own investigation **over that of Doiron, MacDonald Highlands Realty, or anyone else.** 

Were this Court to allow the Trust to proceed in spite of the "as-is" provisions and facts showing the Trust had access to the information it claims was not disclosed, it would be violating its own long standing rule of construction that "when a contract is clear, unambiguous and complete, its terms must be given their plain meaning and the context must be enforced as written . . . ." *Ringle v. Bruton*,86 P.3d 1032, 1039 (Nev. 2004).

issues regarding the property. See JA 12:2482 at ¶ 19 and JA 2:348. Using that information, the Trust could have discovered the most up-to-date zoning map for the surrounding properties in five minutes or less in February of 2013, and with a visit or telephone call to the City of Henderson in January of 2013. See JA 12:2482 at ¶ 20 and JA 3:539 (Michael Tassi Deposition at 26:14-29:25). Given this testimony, there is no reasonable dispute that the relevant information would not have been available to Plaintiff in March of 2013, when the subject property was being purchased. See id. at 25:2-19. The scenario, then, is this: (1) Plaintiff willingly and knowingly accepted the duty to inspect the zoning and boundaries affecting the subject property; (2) Plaintiff was given sufficient information by Doiron to do so; and (3) Plaintiff failed to perform the investigations it agreed multiple times to undertake. Under those undisputed facts, then, summary judgment was properly granted.

B. Even assuming that this Court were to overlook *Mackintosh* and the related Nevada law, the Trust has failed to address or respond to the fact that it expressly limited its remedies to \$5,000 in the Purchase Agreement.

Above and beyond any other argument put forward by the Trust in its

Opening Brief, it essentially concedes a significant part of the district court's

decision: the fact that the Trust expressly agreed to limit its remedies in this matter to \$5,000:

... BUYER'S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY IN ALL CIRCUMSTANCES AND FOR ALL CLAIMS ... ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING IN ANY WAY TO THE AGREEMENT OR THE SALE OF THE PROPERTY TO BUYER ... SHALL BE LIMITED TO NO MORE THAN ... THE LESSER OF BUYER'S ACTUAL DAMAGES OR \$5,000.00 IF THE SALE TO BUYER CLOSES.

JA 12:2481 at ¶ 15 and JA 7:1501 (emphasis original).

First, even under *de novo* review, an appellant like the Trust cannot argue a point of law that it has waived by not challenging it on appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 252 P.3d 668, 672 (Nev. 2011) and *Bongiovi v. Sullivan*, 138 P.3d 433, 443 (Nev. 2006). Accordingly, even if every one of the Trust's other arguments are meritorious, the most it could have recovered would have been \$5,000. That amount, of course, would not beat MacDonald's offer of judgment of \$25,000,<sup>12</sup> and therefore the district court's judgment awarding fees and costs was correct as a matter of law, with any alleged error being harmless.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See NRCP 68, which provides that the penalties for rejecting an offer of judgment come into force when the offeree "fails to obtain a more favorable judgment."

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